# ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

FILED

SHO J. WHITE

JAN 21 1999

ELI BUTLER JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

44

CASE NO. 96-4448 SUPREME COURT NO. 94,614

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

AMENDED PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER FLA. BAR NO. 242705

<u>PAGE(S)</u>

TABLI	E OF CONTENTS	i
TABLI	E OF CITATIONS	ii
I	PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	1
II	STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS	2
III	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT	3
IV	ARGUMENT	4

ISSUE PRESENTED	
	THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY REVIEW AUTHORITY BECAUSE THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THIS COURT AND OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.	4

V CONCLUSION CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

.

• .\*

7

7

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES PAGE (S)
<u>Belson v. State</u> , 719 So. 2d 1230 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998) 6
Butler v. State, 23 FLW D2605 (Fla. 1st DCA November 30, 1998) 1
<u>Davis v. State</u> , 661 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1995) 4,5
<u>Denson v. State</u> , 711 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) 6
<u>Jordan v. State</u> , 23 FLW D2130 (Fla. 3d DCA, September 16, 1998) 4,5
<u>Maddox v. State</u> , 708 So. 2d 617 (Fla. 50 DCA 1998), review pending case no. 92,805 6
Mike v. State, Supreme Court case no. 93,163 6
<u>Pierre v. State</u> , 708 So. 2d 1037 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), April 29, 1998 3
<u>Pope v. State</u> , 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990) 3,4,5,6
Speights v. State, Supreme Court case no. 93,207 6
<u>State v. Colbert</u> , 660 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1995) 5
State v. McKnight, Supreme Court case no. 94,256 6
<u>Weiss v. State</u> , 23 FLW D2380 (Fla. 3d DCA, October 21, 1998) 4,5,6

# CONSTITUTIONS AND STATUTES

• .-

<u>Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996)</u>				
Section 924.051(3)	3,4			
OTHER SOURCES				
Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure				

Rule 3.800

2

-ii-

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

.

ELI BUTLER JR.,	
Petitioner,	:
	:
v.	:
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:
Respondent.	:

4.5

CASE NO. 96-4448 SUPREME COURT NO. 94,614

AMENDED PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

#### I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case comes to the Court on review from a decision of the First District Court of Appeal, <u>Butler v. State</u>, 23 FLW D2605d (Fla. 1st DCA November 30, 1998), which is attached in this brief in Appendix A.

Petitioner was the appellant in the District Court and the Defendant in the Circuit Court; he will be referred to as Petitioner or by name. The state prosecuted the case below and will be referred to as Respondent or State.

This brief is prepared in 12 point Courier New type.

#### II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts as stated by the District Court are essentially that the trial court failed to file a timely written order explaining its upward departure sentence on Petitioner. The trial court did explain on the record at the sentencing hearing why it was imposing an upward departure sentence, and Petitioner's counsel objected to the reasons announced by the trial court during the sentencing hearing.

Petitioner did not object in the trial court to the court's failure to file written reasons justifying the departure sentence. The District Court found that since the issue was not presented to the trial court, it was not preserved. In addition, the court found that Petitioner had failed to demonstrate prejudice by the failure to file written reasons. To the extent that error occurred, the Court found it was not fundamental and therefore affirmed the departure sentence.

This Petition for Discretionary Review, based on conflict in the law concerning the proper remedy when a defendant objects to an upward departure below but fails to file a motion to correct sentence under Rule 3.800 when the trial court does not file a written departure order - follows.

### III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision below expressly and directly conflicts with this court's decision in <u>Pope v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990). It also conflicts with the Third District's opinion in <u>Pierre v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 1037 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), April 29, 1998. In both cases, the trial judges did not file written reasons in support of an upward departure sentence within the time period set by statute. The sentences were therefore vacated for imposition of a guidelines sentence.

In this case, the trial court, fully aware that it was departing from the sentencing guidelines in imposing a maximum 15-year sentence against appellant, failed to enter a written order of departure. The posture of the case is identical to that of <u>Pope v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Pope</u> has not been overruled by this Court. The subsequent enactment of the Criminal Appeals Reform Act, section 924.051(3), Fla. Statutes (supp. 1996), has created a line of cases which conflict with <u>Pope</u>, <u>supra</u>, and this Court needs to resolve the conflict.

#### IV ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY REVIEW AUTHORITY BECAUSE THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THIS COURT AND OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.

As noted, the First Districts Court's opinion in this case conflict with this Court's opinion in <u>Pope v. State</u>, 561 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1990). The opinion did not mention <u>Pope</u>, <u>supra</u>. Instead, without acknowledging that it was in conflict with <u>Pope</u>, it relied on the Criminal Appeals Reform Act, Section 924.051(3), Fla. Statutes Supp. 1996) and some recent cases decided under it, <u>Weiss v. State</u>, 23 FLW D2380 (Fla. 3d DCA, October 21, 1998); and <u>Jordan v. State</u>, 23 FLW D2130 (Fla. 3d DCA, September 16, 1998). The First District also relied upon this Court's 1995 decision in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 661 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 1995), which held that a defendant could not raise the issue of a trial court's failure to file contemporaneous written reasons for departure for the first time in a collateral proceeding.

To clarify the procedural posture here, a few facts need to be emphasized. First, the trial court announced at the sentencing hearing that it would upwardly depart from the sentencing guidelines, and Petitioner's attorney objected to the departure. Second, the trial court never filed a written order of departure. Third, Petitioner attempted to raise the error on

direct appeal, not in a collateral motion. <u>Davis</u>, <u>supra</u>, is clearly not applicable because it held that defendants who had not raised a departure without written reasons issue <u>on direct</u> <u>appeal</u> were precluded from raising the argument in a collateral motion. This court did find that the failure to file written findings does not constitute fundamental error, but <u>Davis</u>, <u>supra</u>, did not overrule <u>Pope</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The Third District's recent decision in Jordan v. State, 23 FLW D2130 (Fla. 3d DCA, September 16, 1998) is still on rehearing at this writing. The Court held that it could only entertain an unpreserved sentencing error which would constitute fundamental error. The Defendant argued that since the written departure order was filed more than seven days after sentencing, the departure order was invalid and must be reversed. See State v. Colbert, 660 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1995). However, the Defendant had not presented this argument to the trial court, and the Third District found that the claimed sentencing error had not been properly preserved for review under the Criminal Appeals Reform Act and this court's Amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 685 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1996), effective January 1, 1997). In apparent conflict with this Court's Davis v. State, opinion, the Third District found that the proper procedure was for the Defendant to file a motion to correct sentence rather than raising it on direct appeal.

Subsequently, in Weiss v. State, 23 FLW D2380 (Fla. 3d DCA,

October 21, 1998) the Third District repeated its holding that a departure sentence without timely written justification could not be raised on direct appeal in the absence of a motion to correct below.. Again, this Court's contrary decision in <u>Pope v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, was not mentioned.

This Court has recently accepted for review a number of cases presenting the issue of what types of unpreserved sentencing errors are fundamental and can be raised on direct appeal in the absence of an objection or motion to correct sentence in the lower court. See e.g. State v. McKnight, Supreme Court case no. 94,256 (improper but unobjected to habitual offender sentencing); Speights v. State, Supreme Court case no. 93,207 (improper habitual offender predicate); <u>Mike v. State</u>, Supreme Court case no. 93,163 (unobjected to public defender lien). And of course, there is abundant conflict in recent case law concerning what types of sentencing errors can be presented on direct appeal in the absence of an objection or motion to correct below. See, Belson v. State, 719 So. 2d 1230 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998); Maddox v. State, 708 So. 2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), review pending case no. 92,805; Denson v. State, 711 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). The issue in this case is a small but important subspecies of those cases, and this Court should accept it for review to resolve the issue of whether upward sentencing departures can be upheld when trial courts have failed to file written departure orders as required by statute and rule.

#### V CONCLUSION

44.

For the reasons stated, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and accept this case to resolve the conflict between the First District, and the Third District, and this Court.

Respectfully submitted,

any Dawelo

NANCY A. (DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT Leon County Courthouse 301 South Monroe Street Suite 401 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER