ORIGINAL

FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

'JAN 28 1999

ELI BUTLER, JR,

Petitioner,

v.

đ

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CLERK, DUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Glerk

CASE NO. 94,614

## JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414 3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner Butler, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or by proper name.

"PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

A bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appeared in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

## CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND TYPE SIZE

Counsel certifies that this brief was typed using Courier New 12.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal, attached in slip opinion form. It also can be found at 23 Fla. L. Weekly 2605. The state accepts petitioner's statement for the purpose of this review.

-1-

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner's reliance on the decision in <u>Pope v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990), interpreting sentencing guidelines statutory law as it existed in 1990, does not show direct and express conflict with controlling, contemporary decisions interpreting statutory and procedural law as it now exists. Petitioner has not shown any basis for the constitutional exercise of discretionary jurisdiction.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE I

DOES THE DECISION BELOW THAT CLAIMS OF NON-FUNDAMENTAL SENTENCING ERROR MUST BE PRESERVED IN THE TRIAL COURT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT OR OTHER DISTRICT COURTS APPLYING SECTION 924.051(3), FLORIDA STATUTES AND FLORIDA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.140(D)? (RESTATED)

#### Jurisdictional Criteria

Petitioner contends that this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), which parallels Article V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. The constitution provides:

> The supreme court ... [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

The conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). <u>Accord Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Nat'l</u> <u>Adoption Counseling Service, Inc.</u>, 498 So.2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986) (rejected "inherent" or "implied" conflict; dismissed petition). Neither the record, nor a concurring opinion, nor a dissenting opinion can be used to establish jurisdiction. <u>Reaves</u>, <u>supra; Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980) ("regardless of whether they are accompanied by a dissenting or concurring opinion"). In addition, it is the "conflict of *decisions*, not conflict of *opinions* or *reasons* that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." <u>Jenkins</u>, 385 So. 2d at 1359.

In <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958), this Court explained:

> It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate The revision and modernization of courts. the Florida judicial system at the appellate level was prompted by the great volume of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay in the administration of justice. The new article embodies throughout its terms the idea of a Supreme Court which functions as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the preservation of uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district courts in most instances being final and absolute.

Petitioner's reliance on this Court's decision in <u>Pope</u> is completely misplaced. In <u>Pope</u>, applying statutory law on the sentencing guidelines as they existed in 1990, this Court held, for policy reasons, "that when an appellate court reverses a departure sentence because there were no written reasons, the court must remand for resentencing with no possibility of departure from the guidelines." <u>Pope</u>, 561 So.2d at 556. There was no preservation of sentencing error issue in <u>Pope</u>, the decision rests entirely on statutory interpretation of the sentencing guidelines. Since <u>Pope</u> issued, the Florida Legislature has amended chapter 924, Florida Statutes (Supp 1996) to require that all non-fundamental sentencing errors be properly preserved in the trial court by presentation of the same claim of error to the

- 4 -

trial court which is presented to the appellate court. \$\$924.051(1)(b), 924.051(3). This Court, in <u>Amendments to the</u> <u>Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure</u>, 685 So.2d 773 (Fla. 1996), has explicitly upheld the authority of the legislature to condition the constitutional right to appeal upon the proper preservation of error in the trial court.

Applying this rationale to the amendment of section 924.051(3), we believe the legislature could reasonably condition the right to appeal upon the preservation of a prejudicial error or the assertion of fundamental error. Anticipating that we might reach such a conclusion, this Court on June 27, 1996, promulgated an emergency amendment designated as new Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) to authorize the filing of a motion to correct a defendant's sentence with ten days. [cite omitted] Because many sentencing errors are not immediately apparent at sentencing, we felt that this rule would provide an avenue to preserve sentencing errors and thereby appeal them. Amendments at 775.

In implementation of the legislative enactment, and in a culmination of rule changes which originated prior to the legislative enactment of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996, this Court also promulgated Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(d) which, unequivocally, and without exception, requires:

(d) Sentencing errors. A sentencing error may not be raised on appeal unless the alleged error has first been brought to the attention of the lower tribunal:

(1) at the time of sentencing; or

(2) by motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b).

Petitioner Butler had thirty days pursuant to rule 3.800(b) to raise any claim of prejudicial sentencing error in the trial court and failed to do so. There was no reason, as the district court decided, to permit him to eschew the orderly remedy

- 5 -

provided by this Court and the Florida Legislature by sandbagging a "gotcha" claim for the appellate court.

The above is the controlling law as it now exists. Petitioner has not cited a single decision of any district court, or of this Court, which is in direct and express conflict with the decision below that unpreserved, non-fundamental sentencing errors may not be raised for the first time on appeal. Thus, there is no constitutional basis for the exercise of discretionary jurisdiction.

The state will not develop the point because it would add unnecessary complexity to a simple issue but it should be noted that the sentencing guidelines statutes themselves have been extensively revised on a more-or-less continuous basis in the years since 1990 and bear little resemblance to the statute on which Pope rests. Enough to say that under current statutory law, the sentencing court, without explanation, "may impose a sentence up to and including the statutory maximum for any offense, including an offense that is before the court due to a violation of probation or community control." § 921.002(1)(g), Florida Statutes (Supp 1998). Moreover, such "departures" within the statutory maximum are not appealable. § 921.002(1)(h), Florida Statutes (Supp 1998). Thus, aside from the absence of a constitutional basis for discretionary review, any such review would have little if any relevance to the future administration of justice.

- 6 -

#### CONCLUSION

ş

There is no constitutional basis for the exercise of discretionary review and the petition for such review should be denied.